

Arizona Thrives

A Path to a Healthy and Prosperous Future December 2019





Table of Contents

Executive Summary			
A Pragmatic Approach to Prosperity 4			
Why Now?			
Our Approach and Principles5			
How Arizona Can Lead			
The Goals			
Elements of a Pragmatic Solution7			
Clean Air: Achieving Attainment			
Addressing Mobility to Reduce Single-Rider Trips10			
Increasing Electric Vehicles and Low-Emissions Transport Solutions			
Reducing Auto Emissions and Improving Fuel Efficiency			
Increasing Tree Canopy Cover to Improve City Livability14			
Clean Energy: A Roadmap to Net Zero Carbon Emissions			
Reliable and Affordable Clean Electricity Production16			
Energy Efficiency and Built Environments18			
Clean-fuel Use in Industry and Commercial Transportation			
Forest Health/Biomass			
Summary of Opportunities			
The Power of an Integrated Approach			
What it Will Take			
Setting Goals			
Implementation			
Our Guiding Principles			
Conclusion			
Authors and Acknowledgements27			
Endnotes			



Arizonans have prospered by having a strong spirit and being resourceful and resilient. Arizona is the sixth largest state, with the fifth largest city and is the third most biologically rich state in the nation.¹

Arizona is on the rise. One of the fastest growing states in the country, Arizona is developing an increasingly diverse and dynamic economy. This is all the more remarkable because it has been done in an arid region where the ability to thrive was not guaranteed. Yet Arizonans have learned to adapt to our environment and made some key investments and forward-looking policies.

Arizona is ahead of the curve. Today, Arizona's leaders are looking ahead toward new challenges that must be addressed to continue growing a vibrant economy and a healthy and prosperous future for its people. Attracting the industries of the future as well as maintaining competitiveness nationally and internationally requires leveraging emerging technologies and promoting a healthy environment.

Phoenix is the hottest city in the nation and is projected to become much hotter. Several Arizona counties rank among the lowest in the U.S. for air quality.² The forests that sustain our largest renewable water supply are at risk of catastrophic fire.³ Twenty-year droughts may become the new normal if proactive measures are not taken.

There is a growing agreement that more needs to be done⁴ and Arizona is positioned to lead in a way that works for Arizonans. The convergence of public support, lower-cost clean energy, a need to meet clean air standards, and demands by businesses for clean energy and healthy communities presents an opportunity for broad-based leadership and individual action. Additionally, Arizona's rural and tribal communities have unique opportunities and challenges that must be considered in developing a path forward to ensure they are not left behind.

We can continue to debate and wage costly battles over the future of Arizona or we can act now to set a course that will put us on a path where people and nature can thrive.

This report is intended to change the conversation about why it matters and what it will take to get there. It provides a framework for Arizona to move toward clean energy that is affordable, reliable and competitive, and attainment of clean air standards that will make Arizona more livable and able to attract high-wage jobs. It recognizes there is no one solution and calls on us to work better together.

We have an opportunity to create a path that provides for us now and will allow our children and grandchildren the opportunity to thrive and prosper in the future. The time to act is now.

Kohan

Patrick Graham State Director, The Nature Conservancy in Arizona

Executive Summary

In March 2019, The Nature Conservancy convened a group of respected people who care about the issues of clean air, clean energy and building a robust economy in Arizona, charging them with an approach that would be inclusive and integrated versus polarizing and divisive. Since then, this group has engaged experts and key stakeholders across sectors and defined a set of actions that make sense, are achievable and will work for our state.

To clean up our air and make Arizona healthier and better for business we can:

- Make it easier for people to drive less, especially alone
- Make it easier to make, sell and buy clean fuel cars
- Get older, more polluting, cars off the road
- Plant more of the right kinds of trees in inner cities

The road to clean energy includes:

- Making it easier for power companies to develop and deliver clean solutions
- Promoting energy saving programs
- Using cleaner fuels to make and move goods to market
- Making our forests healthy and less likely to have big wildfires

The goals identified were to meet Federal Air Quality Standards for ozone emissions by 2024 and put Arizona on a path to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050.

The specific areas of opportunity highlighted below are within our reach and are even more impactful when taken together rather than implemented in isolation.

	Lever	Area of Opportunity
Clean Air	Mobility	Increase coordination of mobility efforts; develop land use tools to grow transit-oriented development; influence consumer behavior
	Electric Vehicles	Develop tools to reduce barriers to electric vehicle adoption; coordinate charging station deployment
	Reduce Auto Emissions	Continue and expand incentives for fuel-efficient vehicles, evaluate buy-back programs for vehicles older than 2004, implement fleet modernization and sharing programs
	Increase Tree Cover/Natural Solutions	Create "cool islands" in urban cores; include pathways to transit and shaded transit shelters
Clean Energy	Clean Portfolio	Incentivize storage innovation; proactively support utility research and development; allow cost recovery for innovation and transition.
	Energy Efficiency/Built Environment	Promote utility programs; support opportunities for increased manufacturer and construction industry efficiency programs
	Industry and Commercial Transportation	Support the development of clean and/or carbon-neutral fuels
	Forest Health/Biomass	Thin forests by 50,000 acres per year over 20 years; produce clean biomass energy; increase forest carbon storage

Meeting air quality standards and achieving progress towards clean energy goals requires working across all sectors of the economy. Approaching each sector and element independently will be harder and more expensive than solving for them together. An integrated approach will also help build a broad coalition of stakeholders and increase our collective impact.

A Pragmatic Approach to Prosperity

Arizonans have prospered by having a strong spirit and being resourceful and resilient from the early days of the Hohokam society over 4000 years ago to our thriving innovation economy today. A clean economy will be a critical factor in helping Arizona continue a strong economic growth and attract high-wage jobs.

We are positioned to build a thriving clean economy in Arizona. Arizona has everything we need to lead on these issues if we work together.

Why Now?

There is a convergence of interests that make this the right time to come together and chart a course for a future with clean air, quality jobs and clean energy to power our future growth. Over the past decade tens of millions have been spent battling to influence Arizona's energy future with over \$60M of that spent on last year's Proposition 127 alone⁵. New policy proposals promise to perpetuate that battle and deepen divisions. Few people disagree about where we need to go. The battle has been over how to get there. We believe there is a better way.

Polling confirms there is growing bipartisan support among the public for clean energy and clean air. There is a growing awareness that being out of compliance with federal ozone standards will threaten human health⁶ and cost Arizona hundreds of millions of dollars in lost economic growth.

Market forces are making the transition to clean energy more affordable and competitive.⁷ The recent successful negotiations to avert a water crisis on the Colorado River illustrates both what is possible and the consequences of delaying action.⁸

Many institutions, organizations and governments have been working on these issues over a long time. The challenge is not a lack of good ideas or committed parties. Rather, it is the lack of a coordinated effort, convening entity, or clear plan to steer these efforts so that they result in innovation and progress rather than conflict and unneeded expense.

Throughout 2019 The Nature Conservancy in Arizona has engaged a range of interested parties to explore the level of support for creating a framework and process that could offer a solution-oriented, efficient, collaborative and integrated way to simultaneously promote clean air, clean energy and a prosperous economy. Our belief that a better way is possible has been met by resounding support and a real desire to carve out a new path.

The Nature Conservancy's mission is to "conserve the lands and waters upon which all life depends." Because of our reputation for being trusted and collaborative, we initially offered to be a catalyst for changing the conversation and moving forward. There was also agreement that no institution or body is positioned to do that currently, especially when looking across sectors and issues. We agreed our role was not to tell people what to do. It was not to write a plan. Instead, we are working to help take advantage of this critical moment in time to bring people together to do something none of us could do on our own. We are creating the conditions for Arizonans to come together, to lead the way as they have in the past.

We began with a nimble task force to help guide the creation of a framework and metrics for key constituents. They included Kirk Adams, Gary Dirks, Hunter Moore, Karen Peters and Bill Post. We engaged a broad cross section of experts and interests to frame up the issues and challenges and have worked to synthesize an integrated way forward. That effort has produced the key levers and approach outlined above and identified a coalition of key players well positioned to carry this work forward together.

Our Approach and Principles

The approach we have taken recognizes there is no simple solution to complex issues. These issues are connected in such a way that one can create unintended negative consequences by operating in isolation or we can discover more effective solutions by looking at the issues together. The approach is intended to be transparent, build trust and shift from interest-advocacy to collaborative problem-solving. We set forth these principles to guide our work:

We are committed to outcomes that:

- Have real impact
- Are forward-thinking and adaptive
- People can depend on

We will get there by:

- Respecting the needs and concerns of all stakeholders
- Building a broad base of support
- Building trust along the way

The framework we outlined above and detailed here aims to improve quality of life for Arizonans by addressing clean air and clean energy together to create a thriving clean economy.

We are a state that values innovation and ingenuity and we have an opportunity and the need to engage our residents in devising solutions that:

- Position us as a national leader in developing clean energy and air solutions
- Foster innovation and invite investment in both rural and urban areas
- Demonstrate the potential of emerging technologies
- Improve the livability of our cities by mitigating impacts of heat and air quality
- Positively impact the health of our most vulnerable populations
- Create opportunities for employment and recreation

How Arizona Can Lead

Arizona is uniquely positioned to play a leadership role in this growing movement:

- We have an abundance of sunshine and lands suitable for clean renewable energy and storage.⁹
- We are an ideal testing-ground for innovation:
 - Arizona is the third-largest producer of solar energy¹⁰
 - Private investment in electric vehicle manufacturing is locating here^{11,12}
 - Nature-based solutions can significantly improve livability in neighborhoods and cities¹³
 - Our unique political environment positions us to develop pragmatic solutions with broad marketability beyond our borders
- The compounding effect of heat on pollution in our state gives us incentive to come up with true innovations, not only incremental improvements¹⁴
- By investing in solving our forest health we can provide benefits to rural communities and improve water supplies for urban areas, while reducing harmful emissions¹⁵
- We are positioned to be an exporter of clean energy in the future.

What we are proposing is an opportunity to create solutions that work for Arizona. Those solutions are most likely to succeed if they consider the important connections between clean air, clean and reliable energy, and a prosperous economy.

Currently those responsibilities are divided among different branches and levels of government and across industries, communities and sectors. Success will depend on the active participation of people and organizations across Arizona. This means providing useful information, support, incentives and inspiration to take action.

Some of the players involved include the Department of Environmental Quality, Arizona Commerce Authority, Arizona Corporation Commission, cities and counties, urban and rural communities, Residential Utility Consumer Office, Indian Nations, utilities and electric co-ops, business interests large and small, commercial and residential development, public interest groups, universities and more. Some have regulatory authority; others are providers, consumers, researchers and entrepreneurs. All need to work well together to chart this more integrated and coordinated set of solutions.

The Goals

It is time to accelerate the transition to a low-carbon future in a way that is affordable, reliable competitive and equitable. The change has already begun, and the choice is to lead the way, or find ourselves adapting to others' solutions. We need to chart the future in a way that will be sustainable and enduring over time. Some actions and solutions are evident today while others will require new innovations and discoveries. We can begin by addressing three goals.

Arizona Thrives

A Path to a Healthy and Prosperous Future



One goal is to come into **attainment with the federal clean air standards with respect to ozone**. Much progress has been made over the past two decades and the issue is challenging because much of the ozone in Arizona comes from outside the state. That makes it no less important.

Another goal is **striving to achieve a reduce carbon emissions**. Addressing this issue economy-wide will result in a more balanced and coordinated approach than prior proposals. Often attention is only focused on the electric utility sector, yet transportation, commercial and residential development, and land use are larger sources of emissions when combined.¹⁶

In achieving the first two goals it is important to **design solutions in a way that allows our economy to continue to prosper and to ensure that the needs of those adversely impacted by the transition will be taken into account**. A clean economy is one that produces goods and service while producing lowcarbon emissions and meeting air quality standards in a sustainable way. The solutions need to be affordable, reliable and competitive. Some of the changes being driven by market forces or technology create disruptions to economies, people and the environment. Considering those effects will support a more just transition.

Arizonans have always thrived by being resourceful in the face of challenge and change. We need to leverage our resources to create an Arizona for the 21st century. By powering innovation for clean air and clean energy we will build communities and a natural environment that are livable and healthy. We need to be working together to find solutions that build on the innovative spirit and resourcefulness that brought us to this place in time.

Following, we outline how these elements, taken together, create real opportunity for pragmatic solutions that will harness Arizona's ingenuity to create good jobs and fuel a clean economy.

Elements of a Pragmatic Solution

We have been focusing on identifying strategies to create a future where attaining cleaner air and access to reliable and affordable clean energy fuels a growing, prosperous, and clean economy. The problem is carbon dioxide and ozone, by-products of burning fossil fuels, along with other greenhouse gasses are the waste products that are changing our climate and polluting our air.

Despite other differences, there is strong bipartisan support for clean air and clean energy. This allows us to step over disagreements and move to solutions that a broad majority can support. As we have pursued this integrated path, we have identified key levers that, taken together, present a pragmatic path to progress that avoids the pitfalls of more polarizing, single-interest approaches. *How* we shape a healthy and prosperous future is important. Solutions that are mandate-driven or focused narrowly on one aspect of the problem create unevenly distributed impacts, foster divisiveness, and will ultimately fail to address the root causes of our challenges in lasting ways, or to drive the kinds of innovation required to truly be leaders in a changing energy and economic landscape.

We are changing the conversation to catalyze real and lasting change. Ultimately, we will succeed best by inspiring and incentivizing businesses and the people of Arizona to be at the forefront of the efforts to shape their own destiny. We are a proud and independent state and we have an opportunity to build a movement by engaging Arizonans in the inspiring goal of crafting lasting and impactful solutions to some of our greatest challenges by leveraging our own ingenuity, harnessing the power of our most abundant natural resources, and attracting investments that will fuel innovative solutions that improve our lives and can be exported to other communities facing similar challenges.

Together, we can set shared goals and lay out a path to reach them.

One of the galvanizing features of this work has been establishing a clear set of framework elements to focus our work and identify opportunities for synergy. This has allowed for greater coordination of effort throughout this process and sets us up to craft solutions that can be broadly supported going forward. We believe that the most powerful solutions will address a combination of these elements:

- A clean air solution that improves quality of life and achieves attainment
 - o Addressing mobility to decrease reliance on single-driver trips
 - o Increasing electric vehicles and low-emissions transport solutions
 - Reducing auto emissions and improving fuel efficiency
 - Increasing tree canopy cover to improve city livability
- A clean energy approach that builds a pragmatic path to net-zero emissions by:
 - o Encouraging clean electric energy production solutions
 - o Improving the efficiency of our most energy-consuming sites and devices
 - Increasing clean-fuel use in commercial transportation
 - o Promoting forest health and increasing the economic value of biomass

Clean Air: Achieving Attainment

The creation of the Clean Air Act (CAA) in 1963 launched a national effort to maintain healthy air quality by controlling air pollution. While the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) regulates many air pollutants, certain pollutants are known as "criteria" air pollutants because the EPA uses health-related criteria for permissible exposure levels.¹⁷ The permissible levels are known as the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS).¹⁸ A non-attainment designation under the Clean Air Act carries serious repercussions including the loss of federal highway funding and the loss of economic development opportunities. Some of the economic impacts of non-attainment include enhanced regulatory oversight, permitting restrictions on new construction and mandatory emissions offsetting.¹⁹

The Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), and many of the larger counties, routinely track air quality standards.²⁰ Achieving attainment of these standards is important both for air quality and for economic development as non-attainment areas have barriers to investment that make it harder to attract high-quality jobs in some areas of the state.²¹

Maricopa County has already adopted the EPA's targets and set a goal to meet these standards by 2024 that is intended to prevent a status change from "marginal" non-attainment to "serious" nonattainment and avoid even more punitive impacts.²²

Yet in Arizona, much of the ozone that affects our air quality is beyond our direct control, blowing in from California and Mexico.²³ How to achieve this goal is still not fully defined and more coordinated efforts are needed.



During the course of our work, partners from Arizona State University (ASU) and the Department of Environmental Quality met to identify elements of a mobility framework and put forward the following three tiers of actions for addressing air quality. Each of these will be necessary elements of achieving attainment:

- 1. Reduce driving, and in particular reduce the number of single-driver trips.
- 2. Switch to clean fuels, including electricity, hydrogen and natural gas.
- 3. Encourage more fuel-efficient vehicles (that are less polluting).

By addressing these issues together, we can devise solutions that work for the largest number of people while achieving maximum benefit in a lasting way.

In addition to these three strategies, our work also identified increased tree canopy in urban areas as an important lever in improving air quality. Trees in urban areas absorb carbon and reduce urban heat and have a synergistic effect with mobility solutions. Arizona has a real opportunity to pioneer livability in our cities through natural solutions.

Addressing Mobility to Reduce Single-Rider Trips

Key insights: Arizona has experienced steady population growth over the last 50 years, and while the rate has decreased somewhat, total population continues to increase; Maricopa County is currently the fastest growing county in the U.S.²⁴

As the population has grown, the Phoenix metro area has ballooned in size to nearly 15,000 square miles.²⁵ This low-density, sprawling growth means that most people drive long distances for their commutes.²⁶ In 2015, people who worked in Phoenix tended to live farther away than they did in 2000—increasing both the time and cost of their commute.²⁷

Of the more than 2.8M Arizonans who commute to work daily, 77.5 percent drive alone, with just 12 percent sharing a ride and 2 percent using public transit.²⁸ These factors contribute to Phoenix having the fourth most stressful commute in the U.S.²⁹



Today, only two percent of Arizona's population (143,400 people) currently use public transport to commute to work each day.³⁰ Increasing this number, particularly in major cities such as Phoenix and Tempe, could help significantly reduce emissions across the state. In addition to reducing local air pollution, reducing vehicle miles has further benefits such as alleviating congestion, improving safety, and reducing infrastructure maintenance.³¹

Enduring Challenges: Changing how people move requires integrated planning that considers a range of factors, including:

- Increasing population
- Transit (availability, cost, and impact on commuting time)
- Ridesharing (safer and easier to arrange and coordinate)
- Multi-modal transportation (including addressing first and last mile challenges)
- Heat action planning (ensuring adequate shade and shelter in transit areas)

Changing commuter behavior is also a challenge on the road to attainment. Figuring out how best to reduce vehicle miles driven will be important to reducing emissions.

Areas of Opportunity: This is an area ripe for specific goals and innovative, coordinated effort. Both direct and indirect approaches to influencing commuter behavior can make an important difference. These may include land-use policies that support transit-oriented development, direct incentives and public service advertising that encourage ride sharing or working with employers to offer teleworking options.

Increasing Electric Vehicles and Low-Emissions Transport Solutions

Key Insights: While efforts to increase mobility options and reduce single-rider trips is an important element of any comprehensive clean energy and clean air framework, given the large number of those trips that occur today, decreasing the emissions produced by those trips is also a top priority.

Even with today's energy mix, driving an electric vehicle (EV) is more than 50 percent less polluting than driving a gasoline-powered vehicle.³² Using clean energy to charge EVs reduces their carbon emissions to close to zero.³³ Other alternative-fuel vehicles can also make a difference.

Enduring Challenges: First, infrastructure is still scarce and unevenly distributed as Arizona currently has ~474 EV charging stations across the state for more than 11,000 EVs with the majority of charging stations clustered around Phoenix and Tempe.³⁴

The business model for charging stations and pragmatics of when and where people will charge their vehicles remains unclear and unresolved creating ambiguity that hinders both consumer adoption and corporate investment. Infrastructure alone isn't enough though.

Second, the production costs of electric vehicles remain, on average, \$12,000 per unit higher than comparable internal combustion engine vehicles and carmakers still struggle to recover those costs through pricing alone.³⁵ So, the incentive to promote sales is low.

Third, EVs remain a less attractive option for many consumers. Few models are available, and many are sold only in certain states,³⁶ and a 2018 study found that on average the levelized cost of an electric vehicle (including the high initial capital costs, depreciation costs and maintenance) remained significantly higher than a comparable gasoline-powered vehicle.³⁷

Making electric vehicles a cost-effective and attractive option for consumers and helping overcome barriers to profitability can help address these challenges.

Areas of Opportunity: Overall, Arizona is uniquely positioned to both benefit from early advances and increased usage of electric vehicles and to help serve as a catalyst for a rapidly evolving industry in need of pragmatic partnership. Lucid Motors has announced plans to locate a manufacturing plant in Casa Grande providing projected employment for up to 2,000 workers by 2022 and an intent to eventually build 130,000 cars per year.³⁸ Nikola Motor Company is also locating a hybrid-electric truck factory in Coolidge and expects to start building trucks in 2021 and be able to build 35-50,000 trucks per year by 2023.³⁹ By partnering with both consumers and manufacturers the state could be a major catalyst for both personal and commercial EV adoption and speed the path to profitability for Original Equipment Manufacturers.⁴⁰ Better coordination of charging station deployment can also help ensure a smooth transition. Even modest efforts to shift public opinion and make adoption more attractive can have a significant positive emissions impact.

Policy incentives (including federal tax credits) and state and local incentives play a significant role in stimulating EV adoption and Arizona is already demonstrating leadership in this area:

- In Dec. 2018, the Arizona Corporation Commission launched an EV Policy to incentivize regulated utilities to invest in infrastructure and program-development.⁴¹
- Salt River Project provides incentives for "super off-peak" charging rebates.⁴²
- Tucson Electric Power offers residential time-of-use discounts.⁴³
- Arizona Public Service offers off- and super-off-peak use rates decrease charging costs to the equivalent of 30-90 cents/gal.⁴⁴

Other statewide incentives for electric vehicles include:45

- Household tax credit
- License and registration discounts
- Parking incentives
- Insurance discounts
- Clean city programs
- HOV lane access policy

Creating clearer goals and more coordination of messaging around the benefit to the state's air quality and economy of reduced emissions and **developing tools to reduce barriers to EV adoption** could get more leverage out of existing programs as could **improve coordination of charging station deployment**.

Reducing Auto Emissions and Improving Fuel Efficiency

Key Insights: In addition to ride displacement and increasing use of clean fuel vehicles, there is also a significant clean air benefit to replacing older vehicles with newer ones that are less polluting. According to the EPA, compared to 1970 vehicle models, new cars, SUVs and pickup trucks are roughly 99 percent cleaner for common pollutants (hydrocarbons, carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides and particle emissions).⁴⁶ New heavy-duty trucks and buses are roughly 99 percent cleaner than 1970 models. In addition, every \$1 spent to reduce emissions results in \$9 of benefit to public health and the environment.⁴⁷

A 2019 vehicle that gets 40mpg produces 3.25 tons of CO_2 for an average of 15,000 miles travelled per year compared to a car that gets 30 mpg (which produces 4.35 tons of CO_2 over the same distance). Following recent efficiency trends, by 2050, new gasoline cars could get as much as 60 mpg and reduce their emissions to 2.15 tons of CO_2 over the same distance.⁴⁸

In addition, there is also a strong expectation of movements to adopt further increases in low sulfur gasoline fuels. This could lead to a 90 percent reduction in sulfur emissions from gasoline vehicles.⁴⁹

Reducing these older, less efficient vehicles and replacing them with more efficient models at the same time that single-rider trips are reduced and more EVs are adopted can have a significant positive effect on emissions.

Enduring Challenges: There are two significant barriers related to achieving meaningful improvements here.

The first is practical—simply "buying back" older cars makes no difference to air quality if they aren't permanently removed from the road. The disposal of old vehicles, and production of new ones, have their own negative impacts on air and energy.⁵⁰ That said, as we saw above, newer cars get considerably better fuel efficiency than older models meaning that moving to a newer vehicle is still considerably better over the life of the vehicle than keeping the older one on the road.⁵¹

The second challenge is one of public perception. Any efforts that appear to limit personal choice or mandate behavior tend not to be well received in areas that place a premium on individualism and personal liberty. This perception affects both people's choice of personal vehicle and their preference for the "freedom" that comes with driving themselves vs using other transit options. Making less-polluting forms of transit attractive to consumers is key.

The polarization around this issue has caused some of these views to become even more entrenched with things like "rolling coal" (causing one's car or truck to emit a burst of emissions) or ICE-ing (blocking electric charging stations with pickup trucks or other large internal combustion engine vehicles) gaining in popularity as a perceived rebuke to efforts seen as too extremely "liberal⁵²." This is bad for public health, bad for the environment and fosters divisiveness and contention on issues that require us to come together.

Areas of Opportunity: The DEQ already provides **incentives** for owners of older vehicles that fail emissions standards to make repairs.⁵³ Arizona is also at the leading edge of states that have passed legislation imposing civil penalties on motorists who block access to electric charging stations⁵⁴. These efforts can be more broadly **promoted and expanded**. **Buy-back programs for high-emitting vehicles** (older than 2004) should also be evaluated along with **implementation of fleet modernization and sharing efforts**.

One key area of opportunity for Arizona is exploring innovative offset solutions that help to solve some of these challenges while also making Arizona attractive to industry. More and more companies are experimenting with solutions that invest in clean technologies at various points in their supply chain and/or that make a positive difference to local communities to offset their own carbon emissions.⁵⁵ Providing offset credits to large companies who fund buy-back programs and dispose of older vehicles could immediately reduce emissions, increase the market for newer alternative fuel vehicles, and make Arizona even more attractive to economic development. Likewise, fleet modernization and sharing programs can both have an immediate positive impact on emissions and accelerate market transitions.

Setting standards and attainable goals is also a powerful way to spark innovation and fuel economic development. When the EPA first set emissions standards, the pressure it put on industry to generate solutions created some of the most important environmental innovations (think catalytic converter) and spurred inventions that have made cars and trucks cleaner, safer and more reliable.⁵⁶ The economic investment in developing things like computerized engine controls, on-board diagnostics and fuel injection have created tens of thousands of jobs and billions of dollars of sales.⁵⁷ Goals have already been established that are good for air quality in Arizona. Creating the incentives that also spark innovation and investment in the technologies of tomorrow will be important to meeting these goals.

Increasing Tree Canopy Cover to Improve City Livability

Key Insights: Heat is especially dangerous in cities, which tend to be much warmer than surrounding less-developed areas.⁵⁸ Cities also tend to have higher levels of air pollution, which contribute to 7 million deaths every year.⁵⁹ Phoenix is the 6th hottest city in the world.⁶⁰ Urban heat is impacting people's health, safety, comfort and economic development, and this is projected to worsen over time.⁶¹ The number of days above 110°F are expected to more than double by 2060.⁶² Phoenix was also ranked the 7th most polluted city in the country in 2019, receiving an 'F' grade from the American Lung Association in its 20th annual State of the Air report.⁶³ With 60 percent of Arizona's population concentrated around Phoenix, heat and pollution constitute a major public health concern.⁶⁴ Over 1,000 people died due to heat in Maricopa County over the past decade and the numbers are increasing each year.⁶⁵ And, exposure to high ozone levels can aggravate asthma, cause a range of lung diseases, and make it harder for the body to fight off infections, decreasing overall health and quality of life.⁶⁶

Ozone levels are also at their highest during the summer months.⁶⁷ Pollution in urban areas, (including CO₂ and Nitrous Oxides from cars and factories) trap heat, and at the same time, urban heat exacerbates pollution and global warming by increasing the demand for air conditioning and other sources of cooling, which results in additional power plant emissions of heat-trapping greenhouse gases. All of this represents a positive feedback cycle which leads to continual increases in urban temperatures and worsening of overall air quality.⁶⁸ In addition to these heat impacts, ozone pollution is also bad for public health, especially in the heat of summer when high ozone levels can cause a wide range of breathing difficulties, especially in vulnerable populations and among those who work or play out-of-doors.⁶⁹

Using lighter natural materials or even painting them white under the right conditions can significantly reduce urban heat and disrupt this cycle.⁷⁰ The sunshade created by trees has also been found to reduce temperatures by 1-5C.⁷¹ Increasing tree and shade canopy cover by planting the right tree in the right place can reduce temperatures and improve air quality substantially.⁷² Conversely, planting the wrong trees can worsen overall air quality.⁷³

Enduring Challenges: Rising temperatures and poor air quality in Greater Phoenix affect everyone. However, underserved neighborhoods have the lowest percentage of tree canopy and are impacted the most.⁷⁴ On some days, there are neighborhoods that are as much as 13°F hotter than others due to the lack of tree and shade canopy cover.⁷⁵ Residents in underserved neighborhoods are less likely and/or able to advocate for heat-reducing, nature-based solutions, and may not be aware of the role that nature can play in mitigating urban heat.

While rising heat is and poor air quality are impacting our economy, their effects have not been well quantified, and the cost of non-action has not been considered in decision-making. Trees are a cost-effective solution in mitigating heat, improving air quality, storing carbon, reducing storm water runoff, and promoting physical activity.⁷⁶ While Phoenix has a goal to increase tree cover to 25 percent⁷⁷, current budget levels barely allow the city to keep up with replacement of trees that die.⁷⁸

Excessive heat also increases water and energy consumption which increase carbon emissions. An estimated 5-10 percent of Phoenix's energy demand is used to compensate for the city's urban heat problem.⁷⁹

Areas of Opportunity: Cool islands have been found to have the greatest cooling benefits when strategically **targeted in urban city cores**.⁸⁰ Using lighter natural materials on roofs and planting the right trees in the right locations can also reduce the negative effects of heat on air pollution. Planting the wrong trees can worsen the situation. The iconic palm tree, for example, provides little shade, consumes a lot of water, and emits more pollution than it absorbs. Strategically adding more green space to Arizona's inner-city urban communities would have widespread health and economic benefits. While investment will be needed to increase tree cover in underserved communities, many communities can afford to take action to cool and improve air quality at their homes and in their neighborhoods with the right information and incentives. Currently, July average daytime temperature in Phoenix peak at around 104 ° F (40 ° C). Concerted efforts to address urban heat could make the city more livable and improve air quality.

Networks of **walkable cool corridors** within and between neighborhoods and public transport hubs can also incentivize biking, walking and increased public transport adoption.⁸¹ By proactively investing in green spaces, particularly in inner city areas, Arizona can be a pioneer in improving city livability. By also **including bike and pedestrian-friendly pathways and ensuring that bus stops have shade,** these green spaces can also have a beneficial effect on mobility issues.⁸²

Urban heat and air quality have become a priority for a handful of stakeholders from across sectors in the Valley including City of Phoenix, Maricopa County, The Nature Conservancy, Arizona State University and others. Similar programs exist in Tucson and Pima County. However, in order to reduce heat and improve air quality at a scale large enough to make a difference, it will be important for stakeholders to create a shared vision for heat mitigation and its benefits to air quality and disseminate existing information and tools to decision-makers in order to achieve broader social change and collective impact.

Clean Energy: A Roadmap to Net Zero Carbon Emissions

Over the last several years many efforts to define a path to a clean economy have placed the burden squarely on the shoulders of regulated utilities and rate payers via defined targets and timeframes. Progress has been made. However, public debates over how and how fast to reduce emissions have been costly and polarizing and have not yielded an agreed upon path to cleaner energy.

By taking the integrated approach to this work outlined above, Arizona can establish where it has the greatest opportunity to lead in this regard so that smart targets can be collectively set. Creating a pragmatic pathway to determining how we get there and in what timing, is better done through an integrated and collaborative process that can endure, and with broad support it can improve results.

Reliable and Affordable Clean Electricity Production

Key Insights: While several of the proposals put forward in recent years have sought primarily to address the clean energy mix in regulated utilities' portfolios, any such approach must be done in a way that ensures both reliability and affordability for ratepayers. And, factors such as energy storage and demand management are important elements of this equation.

Arizona has abundant renewable energy resources, primarily solar.⁸³ It is also a major nuclear power producer and net energy exporter.⁸⁴ Achieving carbon-neutrality in the energy sector will require replacing fossil fuel sources with cleaner alternatives and/or investing in other natural and technical solutions to offset these emissions. Most agree that achieving 80 percent clean energy by 2050 is achievable with existing technologies, while the last 20 percent will require innovation or advancements⁸⁵. Salt River Project's 2035 Sustainability Plan committed to a reduction in CO₂ emissions per megawatt hour by 62 percent from 2005 levels by 2035 and by 90 percent by FY 2050.⁸⁶



The energy market is already driving this transition.⁸⁷ Coal plants in Arizona and across the nation are closing, and the pace at which others close will accelerate due to the low cost of natural gas and as clean energy sources continue to become even more cost competitive.⁸⁸ This presents an opportunity to consider transition issues for communities and the state.

Today, cost-competitive renewable energy sources like wind and solar are intermittent and less able to be accessed "on-demand" when energy consumption is highest. This means that storage and load

management solutions will become even more critical as more renewable energy comes into electrical energy portfolios.^{89,90}

Over the last decade, a significant amount of clean energy resources, specifically solar electricity generation, have been deployed in Arizona. These resources have largely been comprised of large-scale, utility-owned and contracted facilities, as well as smaller, distributed generation facilities that provide energy directly to customers (e.g. rooftop solar). While the challenge of managing peak demand exists everywhere, Arizona has unique characteristics due to hotter temperatures.⁹¹

To address this challenge, short term storage technologies and advanced inverters are being developed that can make energy sources that once depended on the time of day when they were produced (e.g. solar and wind) able to be stored for later use and dispatched when needed.⁹²

In 2019, Arizona Public Service announced it will add 850 megawatts of battery storage and at least 100 megawatts of solar generation by 2025, making its solar power officially "dispatchable."⁹³ The plan includes outfitting existing utility-owned solar projects with 200 megawatts of batteries, deploying 500 megawatts of new battery resources, and contracting for 150 megawatts of third-party owned storage.

Major advancements in storage technologies have been achieved over the past five years, and while it is expected that these technologies will become increasingly sophisticated and affordable in the next few years, they are not yet at a point of fully solving the load management problem. The ground-breaking Tucson Electric Power hybrid PPA, for example, is expected to provide low-cost energy (some estimates are below 3¢/Kwh) with 100 megawatts of solar and 30 megawatts of 4-hour storage.⁹⁴ That current industry-standard of four-hour storage is not yet long enough to fully provide overnight or emergency supply or to fully address other load management issues, however.

For this reason, addressing demand management programs is also an important element of addressing the energy mix, and opens the door to innovation in energy efficient technologies. In the most recent Grid Modernization Index, Arizona moved up three spots to sixth overall for state support, customer engagement, and grid operations.

As utilities advance policy to address demand-side management programs and create new incentives, customers can sometimes struggle to understand their options.⁹⁵ Having better coordinated solutions can allow customers to make more informed choices while reducing uncertainty for industry.

Enduring Challenges: In Arizona, load management challenges are even greater than they are in other states due to the hot climate which is experienced for most of the year.⁹⁶ More than 9 in 10 homes have air conditioning, creating major peak demand challenges especially during the summer months.⁹⁷

One of the perceived hurdles to significantly increasing the proportion of renewable energy in the mix has historically been that most renewable energy sources are easily able to be controlled by operators or amped up according to demand.⁹⁸ However, in 2019, this perception is no longer wholly accurate due to advancements in storage, communication and control technologies.⁹⁹

Economic incentives are also often misaligned to demand-management goals and access to the technologies is not evenly distributed making them a poor system-level fix.¹⁰⁰

In addition, today's regulatory and rate structure environment means that regulated utilities must bear the full cost of research and development and only successful innovations stand to be included in ratebase setting. Meanwhile, the threat of deregulation creates uncertainty.¹⁰¹

Another challenge is that increases in large-scale renewable energy production will affect land use in ways that may also impact critical ecosystems, habitats and landscapes creating the potential for conflict between renewable energy development and conservation goals.

Areas of Opportunity: Advancements in smart inverters, batteries, communication and control technologies are making traditionally renewable energy systems that have historically only been available at certain times of day or under specific weather conditions (such as wind and solar), increasingly able to be captured for later use. Encouraging storage innovation will help support the transition to cleaner energy sources.¹⁰² Today, batteries primarily address short-term needs. Longer-term **storage solutions** like pumped hydropower, hydrogen storage and Grid-Integrated Water Heating (GIWH) and, EV-Grid Integration **are ripe for innovation** and already being explored and developed by Arizona companies and utilities.^{103,104}

Creating a mechanism to **encourage early-stage innovation by utilities** and rapid learning would likely benefit ratepayers in the long term and engage utilities as partners in generating pragmatic, workable solutions. As goals change, the way regulated utilities recover costs needs to change to support this transition. **Allowing cost recovery for innovation and a transition to cleaner fuels** will help.

As new renewable energy installations are developed, a Nature Conservancy report has demonstrated that site selection methods can help choose locations that are well-suited to energy production, already developed in some way and close to transmission lines. This saves costs both in development itself and in avoiding potential environmental impact delays.¹⁰⁵

Energy Efficiency and Built Environments

Key Insights: An estimated 60-80 percent of energy is lost due to inefficiency.¹⁰⁶ With almost 60 percent of Arizona's electricity coming from coal-fired and natural gas-fired power plants, this energy loss contributes to excessive air pollution. The key benefits of energy-efficiency programs include energy cost savings (for customers and utilities), jobs and economic growth, improved economic stability, reduced water consumption and improved air quality. As an example, if Arizona used electricity 10 percent more efficiently, it would cut pollution from the electric sector by almost 4.5 million metric tons, the equivalent of taking one million cars off the road for a year.¹⁰⁷

While many of the efforts to address clean energy and air in Arizona have focused specifically on utilities and electricity production and on personal vehicle use, taking a more holistic economy-wide

approach allows us to address areas where the challenge is equally large and the opportunity for impact even greater.

The goal of energy efficiency is to reduce the amount of this energy loss; saved or recovered energy is generally considered the least expensive energy resource.¹⁰⁸

Simply put, it costs less to use the energy you have already purchased more wisely than to buy more, even at lower costs. In 2010, the Arizona Corporation Commission adopted an Energy Efficiency Standard that required certain electric and gas utilities in the state to meet prescribed energy efficiency requirements by 2020.¹⁰⁹ According to Arizona Public Interest Research Group, these efforts have generated savings equivalent to the energy use of more than half-a-million homes in addition to saving water and producing significant economic benefit.¹¹⁰

What Has Arizona's **Energy Efficiency** Standard Accomplished?







Energy efficiency programs in Arizona can have a significant positive economic impact by generating jobs for Arizona workers and fostering economic development for Arizona's communities, including those in construction and manufacturing.

Enduring Challenges: While lots of consumer data exists to demonstrate the long-term value of more energy efficient products—especially larger appliances—shifting purchasing behavior remains a real challenge.¹¹¹ Most research points to relatively straightforward obstacles: people don't do enough research, they don't pay attention to energy ratings when exploring options, and/or they do what is familiar or habitual even over things that might save them money in the long run, especially if up-front costs are higher.¹¹²

Meanwhile, building codes and standards that require more efficient products and practices are cited by some builders as making it harder to compete on price with the existing built environment, meaning that some of the energy consumption of existing buildings is "locked-in;" potentially for decades.¹¹³

Because point-of-sale costs and lifetime-use costs are generally not well connected to one another, and the actual cost-of-use depends on many factors including an individual's rates and participation in a variety of demand-side management programs, determining the true cost of these durable goods can be challenging for even the most committed and curious consumers.¹¹⁴ As alluded to above, variability across utilities, and over time, in demand-side incentives can make understanding one's options a challenge that further complicates consumer choice.

Areas of Opportunity: Research shows that the main driver of energy efficient behavior adoption is cost savings, which can be influenced both by policy, through business and consumer incentives, and by promoting shared solutions. Making lifetime savings more visible up front, and/or providing incentives to buy more energy efficient products has been shown to make a difference in buying decisions.115

As more appliances become "smart" there is also an opportunity to partner with utilities to promote the adoption of technologies that also positively impact storage and load management.

Various energy efficiency policies, incentives and programs are currently available to Arizonans and need to be maintained and/or expanded including:

Federal: The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA),¹¹⁶ Weatherization Assistance Program,¹¹⁷ lighting and appliance standards and rebates¹¹⁸ and "Challenge Home.¹¹⁹

State: ACC Energy Efficiency Standards,¹²⁰ Natural Gas Demand-Side Management,¹²¹ Arizona Department of Housing Weatherization Program¹²² and Building Energy Codes.¹²³

Local: Green Building programs (e.g. Scottsdale,¹²⁴ Pima County¹²⁵ and Energize Phoenix¹²⁶).

Utility: Residential energy saving rebates and programs for residential and commercial customers.^{127,128}

Some of these challenges can also be addressed via incentives for retrofitting both residential and commercial properties with more efficient technologies and is an area ripe for innovation. As above, unique partnership opportunities could exist between developers who face cost pressures associated with green building and the manufacturers of clean technologies in need of critical mass in the marketplace to scale their solutions.

More and more leading developers are recognizing the negative impacts of heat and high energy demands on their tenants and are investing in innovative heat resilience technologies that also have energy efficiency benefits due to reduced indoor climate control demands. In Phoenix, the redevelopment of Edison Eastlake is attracting national attention for using innovative building strategies such as considering the orientation and construction materials for buildings and for integrating open space, tree canopy, and shade into community planning.¹²⁹

Building on existing incentive programs and promoting innovative partnerships between utilities, manufacturers and merchants could have significant positive impact. These can be further enhanced by support for increased manufacturer and construction industry efficiency programs.

Clean-fuel Use in Industry and Commercial Transportation

Key Insights: Both the industrial and transportation sectors use fuel from many sources and represent areas of opportunity for innovative partnership and creative problem solving.

In 2018, the industrial sector consumed 32 percent of all energy economy-wide, and by 2025 that proportion is expected to exceed 36 percent. The transportation sector is a close second, consuming 29 percent of energy nationwide.¹³⁰

The industrial sector has shown steady progress in improving energy efficiency over the past few decades, and energy efficiency improvements are expected to continue.¹³¹ The transportation sector, too, has invested in replacing traditional petroleum-based fuels with cleaner energy sources.¹³² Where each of these sectors may have unique solutions to develop, there is also opportunity to address them in tandem in a more integrated way as many industrial consumers also operate transportation fleets and/or are heavy consumers of transportation in moving goods to market.

Enduring Challenges: In industrial settings, barriers to energy efficiency are both internal and external.¹³³ For the businesses themselves, companies can face fierce internal competition for capital requiring energy efficiency programs to return their full investment in very short timescales that often provide a disincentive to up-front investment. Corporate tax structures that favor depreciation over time and split incentives divide both up-front costs and incentive benefits across business units in ways that complicate and slow down decision-making.

Some solutions are also more industry or site specific.¹³⁴ For example, manufacturers might have large sites in wide-open spaces that allow them to produce electricity with solar electric systems located on their properties. Others may be able to use water both for industrial cooling and for power generation. While these differences present obstacles to a one-size-fits all solution, they present real opportunity if what we are looking for are pragmatic solutions to achievable goals.

Areas of Opportunity: Promoting innovation and fostering cross-sector partnerships between areas like industry and transportation, coupled with investments in developing cleaner fuels could provide beneficial cost savings to companies and consumers alike while fueling meaningful innovation in areas that can make a big impact on clean energy and air.

Forest Health/Biomass

Key Insights: Arizona's Ponderosa forests are overgrown. Decades of fires suppression have created forests that are up to 44 times denser than a healthy forest and full of low-value, small-diameter wood. These forests are at great risk of catastrophic fire, which threaten life and property and can release massive stores of carbon and contribute to poor air quality. Proactively thinning forests to return them to a healthy, natural condition reduces the risk of wildfire and research from The Nature Conservancy¹³⁵ showed it would increase water yield by up to 20 percent.

TNC's research also showed forest restoration has direct impacts on carbon.¹³⁶ If 60,000 acres were thinned per year in the Four Forests of Northern and Eastern Arizona, it would lead to carbon benefits equivalent to removing 110,000 passenger vehicles annually through 2100.

Enduring Challenges: Two big challenges in forest restoration are the poor economics and the need to modernize United States Forest Service (USFS) business practices. The government cannot afford to restore Arizona's forests without industry. The cost would exceed a billion dollars. It is necessary to develop a diverse wood products economy in Northern Arizona, yet the small-diameter wood that makes up much of Northern Arizona's forests is of limited economic value, and there is minimal data available to support industry investment and decision-making.



Evidence of the problem is that the USFS released seven timber sales over the past year and did not receive a single bid to thin the timber. Under the current plan there are requirements to remove much or all the smallest trees, limbs etc. because of concern over fire risk. This creates further economic challenges. The only use for those products has been burning as biomass to produce electric energy. However, the cost to produce this electricity is more than double the least-cost option for energy. An incentive will be needed to process the biomass to achieve the full restoration goal.

USFS business practices are based on a different era – when the focus was harvesting large, high-value trees and leaving the small material behind to be burned. To reduce the cost gap between what is economical for business to harvest, there is a need to modernize USFS business practices.

One TNC model showed that three simple changes to USFS practices would result in timber unit that is now valued at a negative \$18/ton to harvest could result in a potential profit of \$4.90/ton. As with many large organizations, change has been slow despite the data.

Areas of Opportunity: A Request for Proposals has been published to attract wood-products company investment. The results of this process may not be known until mid-2020. In addition, there is an acute need to conduct a comprehensive assessment of tree size and distribution and economic analysis to inform USFS and the wood-products industry. Among other things, such an assessment would help quantify how much of an economic gap exists so actions could be taken to close that gap. If USFS accelerates modernization of their process it would provide more certainty and reduce costs further.

Returning forests to a fire-adapted state by enabling wood-products companies to thin forest acreage is an important investment in long-term clean air and energy solutions. We know the math on this, enabling wood products companies to **thin forests by 50,000 acres per year over 20 years** will have a significant positive effect on forest health, reduced the risk of catastrophic fire, and provide needed protection for Arizona's water supply.

Summary of Opportunities

Our work has identified eight specific levers that can position Arizona as a leader, fostering the innovation that will improve our air quality, fuel the transition to clean energy and attract high-wage jobs to the state.

Taken alone, each of these is daunting and won't add up to adequate progress. Taken together, however, no one industry or segment bears the burden alone and creative solutions become possible that are not available in isolation.

	Lever	Area of Opportunity
Clean Air	Mobility	Increase coordination of mobility efforts; develop land use tools to grow transit-oriented development; influence consumer behavior
	Electric Vehicles	Develop tools to reduce barriers to electric vehicle adoption; coordinate charging station deployment
	Reduce Auto Emissions	Continue and expand incentives for fuel-efficient vehicles, evaluate buy-back programs for vehicles older than 2004, implement fleet modernization and sharing programs
	Increase Tree Cover/Natural Solutions	Create "cool islands" in urban cores; include pathways to transit and shaded transit shelters
Clean Energy	Clean Portfolio	Incentivize storage innovation; proactively support utility research and development; allow cost recovery for innovation and transition.
	Energy Efficiency/Built Environment	Promote utility programs; support opportunities for increased manufacturer and construction industry efficiency programs
	Industry & Commercial Transportation	Support the development of clean and/or carbon-neutral fuels
	Forest Health/Biomass	Thin forests by 50,000 acres per year over 20 years; produce clean biomass energy; increase forest carbon storage

The Power of an Integrated Approach

Integrated approaches to problem solving are more powerful and effective than isolated ones, especially on complex issues that require "system leadership."¹³⁷ The Institute for the Future¹³⁸ has spent more than 50 years helping organizations and communities look back from the future to make smarter decisions in a present that is increasingly volatile, uncertain, complex and ambiguous. Many systems facing large-scale complex change are confronting the need for greater integration in solving seemingly intractable problems.

A more isolated approach is less effective because when we look at something apart from the broader system it sits in, we both magnify and mask the effects of individual parties. It can look like a problem "belongs to" a given organization, geography or industry, but in most cases complex problems can't be solved by any one entity. Any attempt to do so inevitably tends to take on symptoms of the problem, not the problem itself. Only when we "zoom out" and take a broader view can we find truly innovative solutions that will yield lasting results. Getting broad buy-in also tends to be easier when we look at the big picture.

As our task force has worked to engage stakeholders and understand the underlying issues of creating a framework for an integrated plan for clean air, clean energy and a clean economy in Arizona, we see opportunity for synergy that can both help us come up with more powerful solutions, and give us real incentive to come together around issues that, taken in isolation, have been polarizing.

A few examples include:

- Increasing electric vehicle use and deployment of charging stations by utilities or companies looking to mitigate ozone emissions
- Communities and employers planting trees along transportation corridors to increase public transit use¹³⁹
- Advanced manufacturing and construction industries partnering with one another to bring goods to market in cost-competitive, job-creating and eco-friendly ways¹⁴⁰
- Encouraging partnerships between industries who stand to benefit from energy efficiency efforts and cleaner forms of transportation moving their goods to market¹⁴¹
- Leverage abundant solar power as it becomes more inexpensive to create synthetic fuels¹⁴²

While these are just a few potential examples of the benefits that can come from an integrated approach, the greater benefit comes from the coordination between these systems and the new ideas and opportunities they can launch as each new solution starts feeding and reinforcing the others. For example, innovations in commercial transportation can improve the fuel efficiency of construction fleets, advanced manufacturing solutions can create good jobs and also make cities more enjoyable to live in, and turning solar power into "liquid sunshine" can both help offset load management challenges in the electric power sector and fuel other opportunities for economic growth as an energy producer and exporter.

Coming up with these kinds of solutions, positions us to solve our own challenges together and have shared pride in the outcomes.

What it Will Take

We propose shifting from an advocacy-based approach to an informed, pragmatic, solution-based one. This approach can encourage more rapid learning and innovation co-creating solutions that are good for Arizona. By evaluating the viability and impact of various strategies across sectors we can invest in the best strategies moving forward. Arizona has unique conditions and resources that enable a uniquely Arizona solution. We have committed government agencies; strong, engaged not-for-profit entities and organizations; a dynamic business community; and an innovative system of research universities. The way our regulatory authorities are structured, and the composition of our energy providers and their energy mix is unlike most states. When combined with processes that have been in motion for some time, these conditions all argue for a uniquely Arizona approach to the future of clean air, clean energy and economic development.

Setting Goals

The goals for clean air are defined by the Federal Clean Air Standards and Arizona is working to come into attainment for the new more stringent requirements for ozone. **We propose Arizona commits to the development of a framework that achieves a goal of carbon net neutral by 2050 economy wide.** Focusing only on the electric utility sector will only address an already declining portion of the emissions and likely lead to less innovative solutions for the economy.

While a 2050 goal is our north star, it is distant and not achievable with current technology or behaviors. By bringing together a collaborative group of stakeholders to develop interim goals that reflect what each sector is able and willing to contribute to emission reduction, we can begin to focus on what will need to be done. Those include electrical energy generation, residential and commercial development, transportation and other industry. Along with public and nonprofit sector stakeholders as well as rural and tribal perspectives, we can chart a course of action that will engage their constituencies even more fully.

Approaching this path forward allows for learning, developing understanding and commitment. It also recognizes that to be successful the broader public will need to be committed and make educated choices. Many of the decisions needed to reach attainment will never be mandated such as what kind or car, appliance or home to buy. Education about the benefits and incentives are ways to shift public opinion and behavior can best be influenced in a coordinated way. In other areas, regulation will be needed to level the playing field such as in setting emission standards for new cars.

Implementation

Over the past six months, we have changed the conversation to a more collaborative and solutionoriented approach.

People agreed there was a convergence of interests that made now the right time – bipartisan public support, positive market forces, to avoid the high cost of polarized advocacy, and an urgency to act.

We formed a nimble task force to guide and shape our work. After careful consideration we determined that clean air and clean energy were closely linked as it relates to ozone and carbon emissions and that to make a difference, we needed to look across all areas of the economy.

Arizona Thrives A Path to a Healthy and Prosperous Future

We engaged over 50 experts over six months to help develop the key elements that serve as a framework for a clean air and clean energy plan. We identified eight elements that have been summarized in this report, Arizona Thrives.

Now we are preparing to take the next step.

Change is coming. We can react to the impending changes or envision and prepare for the future.

As we move forward, we have met with more than 40 leaders across industries, levels of government, rural and urban to review these findings and get their advice. There is a high level of interest to move forward and explore how diverse segments of the economy can work together to address these strategies in collaboration and in a way that works for Arizona.

In the months ahead, we will convene leaders across four key economic segments, including electric energy generation, local transportation, residential and commercial development, and other industry. We will use the results of this report as a building block to identify and evaluate strategies within and across sectors and agree upon goals.

Our Guiding Principles

Throughout the last few months, the taskforce and stakeholders have developed a set of guiding principles to align around the goals and ensure progress:

Integrated

- Air and energy
- Economy wide/cross-sector
- Assess issues and options

Credible

- Objective and reliable information
- Independent
- Transparent

Durable

- Continues beyond any one administration
- Builds lasting partnerships
- Creates enduring structures and networks
- Financially sustainable

For implementation:

- Accelerates innovation
- Creates sustainable solutions
- Shared measurements

Conclusion

There isn't a singular path to success. What is important is that we start now to turn polarization into innovative, collaborative solutions that position Arizona as a pragmatic, effective leader in developing a clean economy.

This is a big undertaking that will need focused attention for several decades and broad public support and engagement to be successful. Progress requires collaboration among a broad spectrum of stakeholders committed to developing integrated approaches to clean air, clean energy and a clean economy.

There is a sense of urgency and at the same time a need to ensure solutions result in improved quality of life, reliable, affordable, and competitive electric power and a robust and thriving economy. The technology and markets are changing rapidly, and innovation and learning will need to accelerate. A public, private and social impact partnership is one way to engage the strengths of all of Arizona in crafting and implementing solutions. The work we do will generate near-term solutions and build the partnerships necessary for next-generation innovation. Failing to act will have significant economic, human health and environmental consequences for generations.

Authors and Acknowledgements

The most exciting part of this project continues to be the collaboration from so many. While the report was produced by The Nature Conservancy, in partnership with Integrated Work, we could not have done it alone. First, we deeply appreciate the leadership and participation of our Phase I taskforce and helped target our approach. We deeply appreciate these individuals and their organizations:

Misael Cabrera Arizona Dept. of Environmental Quality **Timothy Franquist** Arizona Dept. of Environmental Quality Daniel Czecholinski Arizona Dept. of Environmental Quality Lauren Bouton Arizona Governor's office **Diane Brown** Arizona Public Interest Research Group Greg Bernosky Arizona Public Service Jacob Tetlow Arizona Public Service Marc Romito Arizona Public Service Eric Massey Arizona Public Service Jordy Fuentes Arizona Residential Utility Consumer Ofc. Hanna Breetz Arizona State University **Deborah Salon** Arizona State University Paul Chakalian Arizona State University Melissa Guardaro Arizona State University **Chuck Redman** Arizona State University Jenni Vanos Arizona State University

Arizona Thrives

A Path to a Healthy and Prosperous Future

Arizona State University Nathan Johnson Mojdeh Hedman Arizona State University Tom Plant Center for a New Energy Economy Suzanne Tegan Center for a New Energy Economy Patrick Cummings Center for a New Energy Economy **Bill Ritter** Center for a New Energy Economy Nicole Antonopoulous-Woodman City of Flagstaff Jesus Sapien **City of Phoenix** Marc Campbell City of Phoenix Darren Sversvold **City of Phoenix** Claire Kaufman City of Tucson Laura Hyneman City of Masa E3 Lakshimi Alagappan **Ren Orans** E3 Nick Schlag E3 **Bruce Polkowsky Environmental Defense Fund** Ian Caulkins Interwest Energy Alliance Rikki Seguin Interwest Energy Alliance Tina Wesoloskie Maricopa County Air Quality Hanna Valenzuela Maricopa County Air Quality Liza Golden Maricopa Department of Public Health Vjollca Berisha Maricopa Department of Public Health Leia Guccione **Rocky Mountain Institute** Cara Goldenberg **Rocky Mountain Institute** Cory Felder **Rocky Mountain Institute** Mark Dyson **Rocky Mountain Institute** Kathy Knoop Salt River Project Hank Courtright Salt River Project Chico Hunter Salt River Project Nathan Morey Salt River Project Kelly Barr Salt River Project Sierra Club Sandy Bahr Ellen Zuckerman Southwest Energy Efficiency Project Jeff Schlegel Southwest Energy Efficiency Project Tim Sullivan The Nature Conservancy Jeff Yockey **Tucson Electric Power Ray Martinez Tucson Electric Power** Eric Bakken **Tucson Electric Power** Cheryl Lombard Valley Partnership Suzanne Pfister Vitalyst Health Foundation Amanda Ormond Western Grid Group Adam Stafford Western Resource Advocates Autumn Johnson Western Resource Advocates Stacy Tellinghausen Western Resource Advocates

Special thanks to Hanna Breetz for her significant contribution to the Clean Air work and to TNC staffers Diana Bermudez for her research and leadership in the Urban Heat Section and to Nicole Hill for managing this project, providing thought leadership and keeping things connected and moving ahead.

Endnotes

¹ Colby B, G. and Jacobs K, L. (2007) Arizona Water Policy: Management Innovations in an Urbanizing, Arid Region <u>https://arizona.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/arizona-water-policy-management-innovations-in-an-urbanizing-arid</u>

² Environmental Protection Agency. (2018) Air Quality Statistics Report. https://www.epa.gov/outdoor-air-quality-data/air-quality-statistics-report

³ The Nature Conservancy. (2019). Restoring Arizona's Forests Project. https://www.nature.org/en-us/about-us/where-we-work/united-states/arizona/stories-in-arizona/restoring-arizonas-forests/

⁴ Arizona Public Interest Research Group. (2019). Arizonans support clean and renewable energy due to economic benefits. https://arizonapirg.org/sites/pirg/files/resources/Poll%20-%20Energy%20Memo%20%202-19.pdf

⁵ Ballotpedia. (2018). Arizona Proposition 127, Renewable Energy Standards Initiative.

https://ballotpedia.org/Arizona_Proposition_127, Renewable_Energy_Standards_Initiative_(2018)

⁶ Maricopa County Department of Public Health. (2016). Climate and Health Strategic Plan for Maricopa County 2016-2021 <u>https://www.maricopa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/38688/Climate-and-Health-Strategic-Plan-2016-2021-PDF</u>

⁷ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) *Annual Energy Outlook 2019* with projections to 2050 <u>https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/aeo2019.pdf</u>

⁸Central Arizona Project. (2019). Special Meeting of the Board of Directors January 24, 2019 10:00 AM

http://www.cap-az.com/documents/meetings/2019-01-24/1743-012419-WEB-Final-Packet-2-Special-Board-Meeting.pdf ⁹ National Renewable Energy Laboratory. (2019) Arizona Solar Map <u>https://www.nrel.gov/gis/solar.html</u>

¹⁰ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) Arizona State Energy Profile https://www.eia.gov/state/print.php?sid=AZ

¹¹ Lucid Motors (2019) Careers <u>https://lucidmotors.com/careers/search?location=casagrandeaz</u>

¹² Nikola Corp (2019)) Careers https://nikolamotor.com/careers/jobs

¹³ Barton J, Rogerson M. The importance of greenspace for mental health. BJPsych Int. 2017;14(4):79–81. Published 2017 Nov 1. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5663018/</u>

¹⁴ Wang, C., Myint, S., Wang, Z., & Song, J. (2016). Spatio-temporal modeling of the urban heat island in the Phoenix metropolitan area: Land use change implications. Remote Sensing, 8(3), [185]. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8030185</u>

¹⁵ Arizona State Forestry (2014) Urban & Community Forest Assessment Project Southwest Area Summary, December 2014 <u>https://azsf.az.gov/sites/default/files/files/forestry/ucf/Desert-Canopy-Summary-Community-Forest-</u>

Assessment Final 013015.pdf

¹⁶ EIA (2019) Arizona State Energy Profile <u>https://www.eia.gov/state/print.php?sid=AZ</u>

¹⁷ Environmental Protection Agency (2019) Criteria Air Pollutants <u>https://www.epa.gov/criteria-air-pollutants</u>

¹⁸ Reviewing National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS): Scientific and Technical Information.

https://www.epa.gov/naaqs

¹⁹ U.S. Department of Commerce. (2010). Consequences of Non-Attainment. <u>https://www.uschamber.com/consequences-non-attainment</u>

²⁰ ADEQ (2019) Air Quality Monitoring and Assessments <u>https://azdeq.gov/AQ/monitoring</u>

²¹ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019) The Clean Air Act and the Economy <u>https://www.epa.gov/clean-air-act-overview/clean-air-act-and-economy</u>

²² Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. (2019). Presentation to Arizona Manufacturer's Council Environmental and Sustainability Summit. https://azchamber.com/download/135/2019-environmental-and-sustainability-summit/4672/day-2-adeq.pdf

²³Mendoza et al. (2010). Modeling the Dynamics of Air Pollutants: Trans-Boundary Impacts in the Mexicali-Imperial Valley Border Region. <u>https://www.intechopen.com/books/advanced-air-pollution/modeling-the-dynamics-of-air-pollutants-</u> <u>trans-boundary-impacts-in-the-mexicali-imperial-valley-borde</u>

²⁴ Office of the Governor (2019) Maricopa County #1 In U.S. For Population Growth

https://azgovernor.gov/governor/news/2019/04/maricopa-county-1-us-population-growth

²⁵ Census Reporter. (2019). Phoenix-Mesa-Scottsdale, AZ Metro Area. <u>https://censusreporter.org/profiles/31000US38060-phoenix-mesa-scottsdale-az-metro-area/</u>

²⁶ Brookings Institute (2015) The growing distance between people and jobs in metropolitan America
<u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-growing-distance-between-people-and-jobs-in-metropolitan-america/</u>
²⁷ Brookings Institute (2015) The growing distance between people and jobs in metropolitan America

https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-growing-distance-between-people-and-jobs-in-metropolitan-america/ ²⁸ US Census (2017) Means of Transportation to Work

https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?pid=ACS_17_1YR_B08006&prodType=table ²⁹ Robert Half (2017) Boo! U.S. Cities With Spookiest and Most Stressful Commutes

https://www.roberthalf.com/blog/job-market/boo-us-cities-with-spookiest-and-most-stressful-commutes

³⁰ United States Department of Transportation—Federal Transit Administration. (2010) Public Transportation's Role in Responding to Climate Change.

https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/PublicTransportationsRoleInRespondingToClimateChange2010.pdf ³¹ University of California Davis (2017) Cutting Greenhouse Gas Emissions Is Only the Beginning: A Literature Review of the Co-Benefits of Reducing Vehicle Miles Traveled <u>https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/NCST-White-Paper-</u>VMT-CoBenefits-White-Paper-LP EB.pdf

³² Environmental Protection Agency. (2019b) Zero-Emission Vehicle Standards for 2018 and Subsequent Model Year Passenger

Cars, Light-Duty Trucks, and Medium-Duty Vehicles. <u>https://www3.epa.gov/region9/CA-Air-</u> SIP/California%20Code%20of%20Regulations/Title%2013,%20Division%203,%20Chapter%201,%20Article%202,%20Section

%201962.2%20effective%2031%20Dec%202012.pdf

³³ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019b). Zero-Emission Vehicle Standards for 2018 and Subsequent Model Year Passenger

Cars, Light-Duty Trucks, and Medium-Duty Vehicles https://www3.epa.gov/region9/CA-Air-

SIP/California%20Code%20of%20Regulations/Title%2013,%20Division%203,%20Chapter%201,%20Article%202,%20Section %201962.2%20effective%2031%20Dec%202012.pdf

³⁴ Your Mechanic. (2019). Which States Love EVs the Most? https://www.yourmechanic.com/article/states-electric-vehicles
³⁵ McKinsey and Company. (2019). Making electric vehicles profitable. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/making-electric-vehicles-profitable</u>

³⁶ Union of Concerned Scientists. (2016). Electrifying the Vehicle Market (2016) <u>https://www.ucsusa.org/clean-vehicles/electric-vehicles/ev-availability#.V79G-2VB8I</u>

³⁷ Breetz, H. & Salon, D. (2017). Do electric vehicles need subsidies? A comparison of ownership costs for conventional, hybrid, and electric vehicles. <u>https://energy.umich.edu/te3/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/09/Final-Breetz-Salon-EV-Ownership-Costs-v3-TE3-2.pdf</u>

³⁸ Arizona Central (2019) Casa Grande preparing for Lucid's high-dollar Arizona car factory

https://www.azcentral.com/story/money/business/tech/2019/02/18/lucid-motors-break-ground-soon-casa-grande-carfactory-arizona/2859345002/

³⁹ Chamber Business News (2019) Nikola Motor to set up shop in Coolidge.

https://chamberbusinessnews.com/2019/03/29/nikola-motor-to-set-up-shop-in-coolidge/

⁴⁰ McKinsey (2019) Making electric vehicles profitable. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/making-electric-vehicles-profitable</u>

⁴¹ Phoenix Business Journal. (2019). New regulatory plan expected to jolt construction of Arizona electric vehicle charging stations <u>https://www.bizjournals.com/phoenix/news/2019/07/24/new-regulatory-plan-expected-to-jolt-construction.html</u>

⁴² Salt River Project (2019a) Electric Vehicle Price Plan <u>https://www.srpnet.com/prices/home/electricvehicle.aspx</u>

⁴³ Tucson Electric Power (2019) Tucson Electric Power, Time of Use Rate https://www.tep.com/time-of-use/

⁴⁴ APS (2019b) Take Charge Arizona Program 2019.

https://www.aps.com/en/communityandenvironment/environment/electricalvehicles/Pages/Take-Charge-AZ.aspx

⁴⁵ Department of Energy (2019) Electricity Laws and Incentives in Arizona.

https://afdc.energy.gov/fuels/laws/ELEC?state=AZ

⁴⁶ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019) History of Reducing Air Pollution from Transportation in the United States

https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/accomplishments-and-success-air-pollutiontransportation

⁴⁷Environmental Protection Agency. (2019) History of Reducing Air Pollution from Transportation in the United States <u>https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/accomplishments-and-success-air-pollution-transportation</u>

⁴⁸ Weiss, M.A., Heywood, J.B., Drake, EM., Schafer, A., AuYeung, F.F. (2000). On the Road in 2020. Massachusetts Institute of Technology Energy Laboratory.

⁴⁹ Blumberg, K.O., Walsh, M.P., Pera, C. (2019). Low-sulfur Gasoline and Diesel: The Key to Lower Vehicle Emissions. https://www.walshcarlines.com/pdf/low_sulfur_gasoline_and.855.pdf

⁵⁰ National Geographic. (2019) Buying Guide - Car Environmental Impact

https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/green-guide/buying-guides/car/environmental-impact/

⁵¹ Massachusetts Institute of Technology. (2000). On the Road in 2020: A Lifecycle Analysis of Automobile Technologies <u>http://web.mit.edu/sloan-auto-lab/research/beforeh2/files/weiss_otr2020.pdf</u>

⁵² E&E News. (2019) Pickup drivers block Tesla charging stations in widening trend.

https://www.eenews.net/stories/1060110681

⁵³ Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. (2019). Emissions Test <u>https://azdeq.gov/EmissionsTest</u>

⁵⁴ Arizona Revised Statue. Title 28. Transportation. 28-876. Parking spaces for electric vehicles; civil penalty. <u>https://azleg.gov/ars/28/00876.htm</u>

⁵⁵ McKinsey. (2016). Starting at the Source: Sustainability in Supply Chains <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/business-</u> <u>functions/sustainability/our-insights/starting-at-the-source-sustainability-in-supply-chains</u>

⁵⁶ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). History of Reducing Air Pollution from Transportation in the United States <u>https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/accomplishments-and-success-air-pollution-transportation</u>

⁵⁷ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). History of Reducing Air Pollution from Transportation in the United States <u>https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/accomplishments-and-success-air-pollution-transportation</u>

⁵⁸ City of Tucson. (2014). UHI Mitigation: The Tucson Story, EPA Webinar: Keeping Your Cool: How Communities Across the Nation are Reducing the Urban Heat Island Effect. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-</u>09/documents/3 uhi mitigation-the tucson story irene ogata tucson az v2.pdf

⁵⁹ World Health Organization. (2019). How Air Pollution is Destroying Our Health. <u>https://www.who.int/air-pollution/news-and-events/how-air-pollution-is-destroying-our-health</u>

⁶⁰ World Atlas. (2019). The Hottest Cities in the World <u>https://www.worldatlas.com/articles/the-hottest-cities-in-the-world.html</u>

⁶¹ National Climate Assessment. (2018). Fourth National Climate Assessment <u>https://nca2018.globalchange.gov</u>

⁶² National Climate Assessment. (2018). Fourth National Climate Assessment <u>https://nca2018.globalchange.gov</u>

⁶³ American Lung Association. (2019). 20th Annual State of the Air Report. <u>https://www.lung.org/our-initiatives/healthy-air/sota/</u>

⁶⁴ World Population Review. (2019). Arizona Population <u>http://worldpopulationreview.com/states/arizona-population/</u>

⁶⁵ Maricopa County Health (2019) Heat-Associated Deaths in Maricopa County, AZ Final Report for 2018 <u>https://www.maricopa.gov/ArchiveCenter/ViewFile/Item/4765</u>

⁶⁶ Arizona Department of Environmental Quality. (2019). Air Quality Alerts for Ozone in the Phoenix Area. July 2019. <u>https://azdeq.gov/press-releases/press-release-air-quality-alerts-ozone-phoenix-area-july-2019</u>

⁶⁷ City of Phoenix. (2019a). Update on City Actions Addressing Urban Heat City Council Policy Session, 9April 2019. <u>https://www.phoenix.gov/cityclerksite/City Council Meeting Files/4-9-19 Policy Minutes.pdf</u>

⁶⁸ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). Heat Island Impacts. https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands/heat-island-impacts
⁶⁹ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). Health Effects of Ozone Pollution. <u>https://www.epa.gov/ground-level-ozone-pollution/health-effects-ozone-pollution</u>

⁷⁰ National Ready Mixed Concrete Association. (2014) Concrete's Role in Reducing Urban Heat Islands. https://www.nrmca.org/sustainability/CSR09%20-%20Concretes%20Role%20in%20Reducing%20Urban%20Heat%20Islands.pdf ⁷¹ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). Using Trees and Vegetation to Reduce Heat Islands. https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands/using-trees-and-vegetation-reduce-heat-islands ⁷² City of Phoenix. (2019b). Learn About Phoenix's Urban Forest: Tree and Shade Master Plan https://www.phoenix.gov/parks/parks/urban-forest/tree-and-shade ⁷³ Churkina et al. (2018). Effect of VOC Emissions from Vegetation on Air Quality in Berlin https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/acs.est.6b06514 ⁷⁴ Harlan, S., Brazel, A. J., Darrel Jenerette, G., Jones, N. S., Larsen, L., Prashad, L., & Stefanov, W. L. (2007). In the shade of affluence: the inequitable distribution of the urban heat island. Research in Social Problems and Public Policy, 15, 173-202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-1152(07)15005-5 ⁷⁵ City of Tucson. (2014). UHI Mitigation: The Tucson Story, EPA Webinar: Keeping Your Cool: How Communities Across the Nation are Reducing the Urban Heat Island Effect. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/3 uhi mitigation-the tucson story irene ogata tucson az v2.pdf ⁷⁶ Wang et al (2019) Environmental cooling provided by urban trees under extreme heat and cold waves in U.S. cities, Remote Sensing of Environment, Volume 227, 2019, Pages 28-43, ISSN 0034-4257, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.03.024 ⁷⁷ City of Phoenix. (2010). Tree and Shade Master Plan. https://www.phoenix.gov/parkssite/Documents/PKS Forestry/PKS Forestry Tree and Shade Master Plan.pdf ⁷⁸ AZ Central. Residents say Phoenix isn't doing enough to add trees and shade, and they want more. https://www.azcentral.com/story/news/local/phoenix/2018/04/20/residents-push-phoenix-plant-more-treesshade/529265002/ ⁷⁹ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019). Urban Heat Island Effect. <u>https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands/heat-island-</u> **impacts** ⁸⁰ Harlan, S., Brazel, A. J., Darrel Jenerette, G., Jones, N. S., Larsen, L., Prashad, L., & Stefanov, W. L. (2007). In the shade of affluence: the inequitable distribution of the urban heat island. Research in Social Problems and Public Policy, 15, 173-202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-1152(07)15005-5 ⁸¹ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019) Urban Heat Island Effects https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands ⁸² City of Phoenix. (2019b) Learn About Phoenix's Urban Forest: Tree and Shade Master Plan https://www.phoenix.gov/parks/parks/urban-forest/tree-and-shade ⁸³ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) Arizona State Energy Profile https://www.eia.gov/state/print.php?sid=AZ ⁸⁴ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) Arizona State Energy Profile <u>https://www.eia.gov/state/print.php?sid=AZ</u> ⁸⁵ Evolved Energy Research. (2019). 350 PPM Pathways for the United States. https://www.evolved.energy/post/2019/05/08/350-ppm-pathways-for-the-united-states ⁸⁶ Salt River Project. (2019). 2035 Sustainability Goals: Delivering today, shaping tomorrow. https://www.srpnet.com/environment/sustainability/2035-goals.aspx ⁸⁷ Solar Energy Industries Association. (2019) Arizona Solar, data through Q4 2018 https://www.seia.org/state-solarpolicy/arizona-solar ⁸⁸ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) More U.S. coal-fired power plants are decommissioning as retirements continue https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=40212 ⁸⁹ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) Demand-side management programs save energy and reduce peak demand https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=38872

⁹⁰ Green Tech Media. (2019b) APS Plans to Add Nearly 1GW of New Battery Storage and Solar Resources by 2025, 21 February 2019,

https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/aps-battery-storage-solar-2025#gs.h3z14e

⁹¹ National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2019) Climate at a Glance: Arizona

https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/statewide/time-series

⁹² Conservation Law Foundation (2017) Making Renewable Energy "Dispatchable," January 19 2017, https://www.clf.org/blog/making-renewable-energy-dispatchable/ ⁹³ Bade, G (2019) APS to install 850 MW of storage, 100 MW of solar in major clean energy buy, February 21 2019 https://www.utilitydive.com/news/aps-to-install-850mw-of-storage-100-mw-of-solar-in-major-clean-energy-buy/548886/ ⁹⁴ Tucson Electric Power (2017) TEP to Power 21,000 Homes with New Solar Array for Historically Low Price. https://www.tep.com/news/tep-to-power-21000-homes-with-new-solar-array-for-historically-low-price/ ⁹⁵ US Energy Information Administration. (2019) Demand-side management programs save energy and reduce peak demand https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=38872 ⁹⁶ NOAA (2019) Climate at a Glance: Arizona https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/statewide/time-series ⁹⁷ EIA (2019) Arizona Energy Profile <u>https://www.eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=AZ</u> ⁹⁸ Conservation Law Foundation (2017) Making Renewable Energy "Dispatchable," January 19 2017, https://www.clf.org/blog/making-renewable-energy-dispatchable/ ⁹⁹ Conservation Law Foundation (2017) Making Renewable Energy "Dispatchable," January 19 2017, https://www.clf.org/blog/making-renewable-energy-dispatchable/ ¹⁰⁰ EIA (2019) Demand-side management programs save energy and reduce peak demand https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=38872 ¹⁰¹ National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners. (2015). Research and Development by Public Utilities: Should More be Done? https://pubs.naruc.org/pub.cfm?id=4AA29DB3-2354-D714-51DB-4CFE5EFE50A7 ¹⁰² Conservation Law Foundation (2017) Making Renewable Energy "Dispatchable," January 19 2017, https://www.clf.org/blog/making-renewable-energy-dispatchable/ ¹⁰³ GreenTechMedia. (2019). Heat Pump Water Heaters Can be Demand Response Assets https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/energyhub-shows-that-heat-pump-water-heaters-can-be-demandresponse-assets#gs.097lpu ¹⁰⁴ GreenTechMedia. (2019). Tying Together the Technology Standards Behind DER-Grid Integration https://www.greentechmedia.com/squared/dispatches-from-the-grid-edge/tying-together-the-technology-standardsbehind-der-grid-integration ¹⁰⁵ The Nature Conservancy. (2019). The Power of Place: Land Conservation and Clean Energy Pathways for California. https://www.scienceforconservation.org/assets/downloads/Technical Report Power of Place.pdf ¹⁰⁶ Energy Resource Center. (2013). Spooky Statistics About Energy and Water Waste. https://www.erc-co.org/spookystatistics-about-energy-and-water-waste/ ¹⁰⁷ Environmental Protection Agency. (2019) Greenhouse Gas Emissions from a Typical Passenger Vehicle https://www.epa.gov/greenvehicles/greenhouse-gas-emissions-typical-passengervehicle ¹⁰⁸ Energy Star. (2019). About Energy Efficiency <u>https://www.energystar.gov/about/about_energy_efficiency</u> ¹⁰⁹ Southwest Energy Efficiency Project. (2019). Arizona Energy Factsheet. http://www.swenergy.org/Data/Sites/1/media/documents/publications/factsheets/2018-fact-sheets/sweep-az-factsheet-2018 final.pdf ¹¹⁰ Arizona PIRG (2019) Support An Energy Efficient Arizona <u>https://arizonapirg.org/feature/azf/energy-efficient-arizona</u> ¹¹¹ City of Phoenix (2012) Energize Phoenix. https://www.phoenix.gov/publicworkssite/Documents/energizephxyear2report.pdf ¹¹² Frederiks, R. et al (2014) Household energy use: Applying behavioural economics to understand consumer decisionmaking and behaviour, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Volume 41,2015, Pages 1385-1394, ISSN 1364-0321, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.09.026. ¹¹³ Clean Energy Solutions. (2019). Locking in Energy Savings through Building Codes. https://cleanenergysolutions.org/training/locking-energy-savings-through-building-codes ¹¹⁴ Frederiks, R. et al (2014) Household energy use: Applying behavioural economics to understand consumer decisionmaking and behaviour, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Volume 41, 2015, Pages 1385-1394, ISSN 1364-0321,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.09.026.

¹¹⁵ WRI (2019) How Behavioral Science Can Boost Household Energy Efficiency. <u>https://www.wri.org/blog/2018/06/how-</u> behavioral-science-can-boost-household-energy-efficiency ¹¹⁶ Department of Energy. (2019). The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act https://www.energy.gov/eere/wipo/downloads/weatherization-formula-grants-american-recovery-and-reinvestment-actarra ¹¹⁷ Department of Energy. (2019). The Weatherization Assistance Program https://www.energy.gov/eere/wipo/weatherization-assistance-program ¹¹⁸ Department of Energy. (2019). Tax Credits, Rebates and Savings https://www.energy.gov/savings/dsirepage?keyword=LED&page=1 ¹¹⁹ Department of Energy. (2019). DOE Challenge Home (Now Zero Energy Ready Home) - Building America Top Innovation https://www.energy.gov/eere/buildings/downloads/building-america-top-innovations-hall-fame-profile-doe-challengehome ¹²⁰ Southwest Energy Efficiency Project. (2018) Arizona Energy Factsheet http://www.swenergy.org/Data/Sites/1/media/documents/publications/factsheets/2018-fact-sheets/sweep-az-factsheet-2018 final.pdf ¹²¹ Arizona Corporation Commission. (2019). Energy Efficiency--Electricity and Gas. https://www.azcc.gov/divisions/administration/energyefficiency.asp ¹²² Arizona Department of Housing. (2019). Weatherization Assistance Program. <u>https://housing.az.gov/generalpublic/</u> weatherization-assistance-program ¹²³ American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy. (2019). Arizona Energy Efficiency Scorecard. https://database.aceee.org/state/arizona ¹²⁴ City of Scottsdale (2019) Green Building Program https://www.scottsdaleaz.gov/green-building-program ¹²⁵ Pima County (2019) Green Building Program <u>https://webcms.pima.gov/cms/One.aspx?portalld=169&pageld=164258</u> ¹²⁶ Arizona State University. (2013) Energize Phoenix <u>https://sustainability.asu.edu/research/project/energize-phoenix/</u> ¹²⁷ Southwest Gas. (2019). Rebates and Promotions. https://www.swgas.com/en/rebates-andpromotions-searchresidential-arizona ¹²⁸ Salt River Project. (2019). Save With SRP: Energy saving tips, rebates and discounts. <u>https://www.srpnet.com/energy/</u> ¹²⁹ Urban Land Institute. Scorched: Extreme Heat and Real Estate. https://americas.uli.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/ULI-Documents/Scorched Final-PDF.pdf ¹³⁰ US Energy Information Administration. (2018) US Energy Facts https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/us-energy-facts/ ¹³¹ Berkley Lab (2018) The Future of U.S. Electricity Efficiency Programs Funded by Utility Customers: Program Spending and Savings Projections to 2030 https://emp.lbl.gov/publications/future-us-electricity-efficiency ¹³² Department of Transportation. (2019) Fuels and Vehicle Technology https://www.transportation.gov/sustainability/climate/fuels-and-vehicle-technology ¹³³ Department of Transportation. (2015) Barriers to Industrial Energy Efficiency https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2015/06/f23/EXEC-2014-005846 6%20Report signed 0.pdf ¹³⁴ Department of Transportation. (2015) Barriers to Industrial Energy Efficiency https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2015/06/f23/EXEC-2014-005846 6%20Report signed 0.pdf ¹³⁵ Robles MD, Marshall RM, O'Donnell F, Smith EB, Haney JA, Gori DF. Effects of climate variability and accelerated forest thinning on watershed-scale runoff in Southwestern USA ponderosa pine forests. PLoS ONE. 2014; 9: e111092.: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111092 ¹³⁶ McCauley, L.A., Robles, M.D., Woolley, T., Marshall, R. M., Kretchun, A., & Gori, D. (2019). Large-scale forest restoration stabilizes carbon under climate change in Southwest United States. Ecological Applications 00(00):e01979. 10.1002/eap.1979 ¹³⁷ Senge, P. Hamilton, H. & Kania, J. (2015). The Dawn of System Leadership. Stanford Social Innovation Review. Winter,

2015. https://ssir.org/articles/entry/the dawn of system leadership

¹³⁸ Institute for the Future. <u>http://www.iftf.org/home/</u>

¹³⁹ Gouldson, A., Sudmant, A., Khreis, H. & Papargyropoulou, E. The Economic and Social Benefits of Low-Carbon Cities: A Systematic Review of the Evidence. Coalition for Urban Transitions. <u>https://newclimateeconomy.report/workingpapers/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2018/06/CUT2018</u> CCCEP final rev060718.pdf

¹⁴² Shih, C.F., Zhang, T., & Chunli, B. (2018). Powering the Future with Liquid Sunshine. Joule, 2,10. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S254243511830401X</u>